IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

GEORGE FIRESTONE, et al

Appellants,

vs.

.

CASE NO. 72,789

NEWS-PRESS CO., INC., d/b/a FORT MYERS NEWS-PRESS

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FIRESTONE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

JASON VAIL Assistant Attorney General

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol - Suite 1501 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-1573 Counsel for Appellant Firestone

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant George Firestone was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal. At the beginning of this action he was the Secretary of State, but he no longer serves in that capacity, and has been replaced by Jim Smith. The Office of the Attorney General appears on behalf of the real parties in interest, the current Secretary of State and the State of Florida.

News-Press Publishing Co., the appellee in this court, was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal. We will refer to the appellee as the plaintiff or by name.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action by the News-Press Publishing Co., publisher of the daily newspaper the Ft. Myers News-Press, to declare unconstitutional and enjoin enforcement of s. 101.121, Fla. Stat. (1985). That section restricted access by the general public to all polling places and a 50-foot buffer zone surrounding the polling place. Apart from authorized poll workers and poll watchers, only those actually voting or in line to vote were permitted within the protected zone.¹/

News-Press, the plaintiff in the trial court, filed its amended complaint in October 1986, alleging that the statute was constitutionally overboard and vague. (r-70). The defendants were then Secretary of State George Firestone and then Lee County Supervisor of Elections Enid Earle. $\frac{2}{}$

Shortly afterward, on October 24, 1986, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the plaintiff's request for a

 $^{^{1}}$ /A polling place is defined as the building housing the polling room, the room in which ballots are actually case. Sections 97.021(18) and (19).

In 1987, while this action was pending, the Legislature amended s. 101.121 to change the protected zone's perimeter. It no longer stretches from the walls of the polling place, but from the walls of the polling room. See s. 2. Chap. 87-184, Laws of Florida, s. 101.121, Fla.Stat. (1987).

²/Neither Mr. Firestone nor Ms. Earle presently hold public office, and have not for some time. However, the plaintiff has not moved to replace them with the current office holders. The Office of the Attorney General appears on behalf of the named party, Mr. Firestone, but in reality, undersigned counsel represents the State of Florida and the Office of the Secretary of State.

temporary injunction. (State-wide elections were scheduled for November 4, 1986.) At the hearing the plaintiff introduced an affidavit in support of its challenge (r-77), testimony of a reporter (r-6-21), and its exective editor (r-21-29) and documentary evidence (r-111-127B; 131-144).

Defendant Enid Earle, offered the testimony of three witnesses. (r-30-48).

The trial court issued a temporary injunction permitting journalists to photograph or videotape within polling places during the November 1986 general election. (r-128).

Only after the hearing did the defendants file their answers to the amended complaint. (r-145, 149, 150).

Subsequently, all three parties filed cross motions for summary judgment. (r-153, 154).

On February 9, 1987, the trial court held a hearing on the motions, and on March 25, 1987, issued its Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, finding the statute constitutional and granting the defendants' motions. (r-306). The trial court issued its final order on April 20, 1987 (r-307), and the plaintiff filed a timely notice of appeal to the District Court of Appeal on May 19, 1987. (r-308).

On May 6, 1988, the District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court and held that s. 101.121 as amended by s. 2, Ch. 87-184, Laws of Florida, was facially unconstitutional. (Appendix 1). The court applied the compelling state interest test. (Appendix 1, pp. 5-6). The plaintiff conceded and the court recognized that the state had a compelling state interest in protecting ballot secrecy and the orderly process of voting. (Appendix 1, p. 5). And the court said that the statute safeguarded "acknowledged compelling governmental interests." (Appendix 1, p. 6).

However, the court said that the statute, regardless of the reduction in the perimeter caused by the fact it was now defined by the walls of the polling room, was substantially overbroad. First, the court said, the statute was overbroad because "undoubtedly, in many cases" it would fall on traditional public fora such as sidewalks. Second, the statute interfered with the rights of citizens who had lawful business in buildings where polls were often established (such as schools, churches and community halls, which the court said were commonly used for free expression) to pass through the protected zone. The court in particular noted that the statute prohibited nonvoters from assisting voters. And the court said that the mere presence of nonvoters in the zone did not interfere with state interests, finding that the defendants' reasons for enforcing the protected zone were supported only by unsubstantiated fears.

- x -

One panel member, Judge Schoonover, dissented with an opinion. See Appendix 1, pp. 10-14. He argued that because the restriction on first amendment rights was content-neutral, a lesser degree of scrutiny was required than that used by the majority. Judge Schoonover argued that the test to be applied was essentially the same as that used for time, place and manner restrictions. He said that because the state had a legitimate interest in protecting ballot secrecy and preventing the distraction, interruption and harassment of voters, the prohibition against general public access inside the polls and within 50 feet of them was reasonable and constitutional. Judge Schoonover disagreed with the majority's position that the statute was constitutionally defective because it would prohibit nonvoters from assisting voters. The judge said that such a conclusion led to an irrational result.

Defendant Firestone filed a motion for rehearing on May 26, 1988, which was denied on June 27, 1988.

Defendant Firestone then filed a notice of appeal on July 20, 1988.

As a result of the filing of the notice of appeal by the Secretary of State, the affect of the district court's order was stayed by Rule 9.310, Fla.R.App.P. The plaintiff filed an emergency motion to lift the stay on July 25, 1988. The motion was denied on August 1, 1988.

- xi -

STATEMENTS OF FACTS

Section 101.121, Fla. Stat. (1985), stated:

Persons allowed in polling places. - As many electors may be admitted to vote as there are booths available, and no person who is not in line to vote may come within 50 feet of any polling place from the opening to the closing of the polls, except the officially designated watchers, the inspectors, the clerks of election, and the supervisor of elections or his deputy. However, the sheriff, a deputy sheriff, or a city policeman may enter the polling place with permission from the clerk or a majority of the inspectors. Such restrictions shall not apply to commercial businesses or privately owned homes and property which are within 50 feet of the polling place.

3/

During the September 30, 1986, state-wide primary elections s. 101.121 was enforced against a Ft. Myers News-Press photographer, Joe Burbank, and other journalists in Lee County. (r-77-79) The News-Press photographer had taken the picture of Frank Mann, Democratic candidate for lieutenant governor, entering the polling place at precinct 48, but was unable to take Mr. Mann's picture inside the polling place because he was barred from entering. (r-77-79). At the photographer's last attempt to

 $^{^{3}}$ /Before its amendment in 1985, the section had provided for a more limited protected zone, which extended 15, and not 50, feet from the polling place. See Chap. 85-205, Laws of Florida.

enter the polling place, he was escorted out and told that the Lee County Sheriff's Department would be called if he persisted. (r-77-79).

As a result of Mr. Burbank's inability to gain access to the polling place to take photographs during the primary, the plaintiff, News-Press, filed this action.

At the hearing on the plaintiff's request for temporary injunctive relief, the plaintiff offered photographs taken during the primary outside polling places (r-120-126), and copies of photos taken inside polling places during previous elections. (r-132-144).

Mr. Burbank testified that he was on assignment on September 30, 1986, to take photos of various polling places to show voters exercising their right to vote. (r-8). He said that he was unable to do this from outside the 50-foot protected zone. (r-8-9). Mr. Burbank further testified that when he tried to enter the polling place he did not create a disturbance or interfere with any citizen's right to vote. (r-9). Mr. Burbank said that he had been a news photographer for five years and had covered other elections in which he was allowed into the polls and that he believed it was customary for journalists to take pictures of citizens and candidates casting their ballots. (r-9-10).

The plaintiff's executive editor, Keith Moyer, testified that he had worked as a reporter and editor for 11 years, and

- xiii -

during that time had covered approximately five elections during the 1970s. (r-22). He said that he had heard of no complaints about his presence inside any polling place, and that he was not aware of any such complaints against other journalists. He also said that he believed it was "traditional" to allow photographers into polling places during elections. (r-25).

Mr. Moyer said that the purpose of photographing inside the polls was to show the human side of the process and to illustrate voter turnout, to cover and to report any improprieties and unusual events connected with the election. (r-27). He said that accomplishing this purpose was defeated by the 50-foot protected zone. (r.27).

Defendant Enid Earle, former Lee County supervisor of elections, testified that she gave these instructions to poll workers:

> I have instructed all my clerks to be very cautious about the news media because they have a tendency to go into the polling places and snap pictures during the televising and caused chaos in the polling places. What worries us is we are charged with the security of the polling place as well as the election and what would prevent somebody, all these news media milling around if they were allowed in this polling place, somebody picks up a pack of ballots and walks out with them and we wouldn's know what in God's name happened to them. So for that reason we think they shouldn't be allowed in the polling place. There is enough confusion on election day that we don't need it. (r-33)

Ms. Earle testified that she told poll workers to enforce the boundaries of the protected zone because of the potential for disruption. (r-33,35). However, she was not optimistic about the ability of workers to do so because of the aggressiveness of some journalists: "I would say a lot of these boys would go out and go within the polls whether they had permission or not." (r-35).

Mrs. Sally Freis, a volunteer precinct worker at Lee County precinct 48, testified for the defendants. She said her job was to provide voters with ballots and to ensure that voting went in an orderly and efficient manner. (r-43). She testified about the incident that led to the barring of Mr. Burbank from access to the polls. She said that at precinct 48 the voting booths were next to a large window. Outside the window when Mr. Mann was voting a crowd of press and television reporters had assembled and were taking photographs. (r-16, 43). Mrs. Freis called the scene "disruptive":

Q. How was it disruptive?

A. It takes your attention off what you're doing. In this particular precinct we have a very large turnout of elderly people. We have people with canes, walkers, wheelchairs and sight impaired that come in and you have to watch them as well as register your voters and make sure they make it to a voting booth. So the less people that we have in there, the less confusion and the more efficiently we can do our job. (r-44)

- xv -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 101.121, Fla. Stat., prohibiting access to the polling room and a 50-foot protected zone around it to all but voters and those in line to vote, is not constitutionally overbroad on its face and unreasonable.

The statute may constitutionally be applied to the plaintiff, a publisher of a daily newspaper.

The statute implicitly creates three protected zones: within the polling room itself, a protected zone inside the polling place (the building housing the polling room), and that part of the protected zone that happens to fall outside the polling place.

When the protected zone, because of the configuration of the polling place, falls outside the building and on a traditional public forum such as a sidewalk or a park, the statute creates a reasonable time, place and manner restriction on the exercise of first amendment rights.

The restriction is content neutral. It does not purport to regulate speech or to promote or suppress a viewpoint. It only regulates access to a particular forum at a particular time.

It is not unreasonable. It supports a substantial, even compelling state interest in protecting the voting process from disorder and voting fraud, and it secures individual rights to the secret ballot and to privacy. The state policy embodied by the statute reflects lengthy historical experience in this country with voting fraud, which was once widespread when polling places were open to the general public.

The plaintiff and others seeking to exercise first amendment rights have reasonable alternative channels of communication. The plaintiff may still gather news and report on the election by talking with voters and officials outside the zone, which is narrowly drawn in that it extends only 50 feet (or 16.66 yards from the polling room.

Because of the slight chance that the protected zone might fall on a public forum, if the court determines that the statute is not a reasonable time, place and manner restriction, it should provide a limiting, saving construction and not declare the entire statute unconstitutional. It should hold that the statute is unconstitutional only as applied to traditional public forums.

The U.S. Supreme Court recognizes three types of public forums: the traditional public forum such as the sidewalk and city street; the designated public forum, public property opened for unlimited expression; and the nonpublic forum, public property either restricted to the public or opened only for specific purposes. The public and the plaintiff do not have a first amendment right of access to state property simply because it is owned by the state on behalf of the public.

Inside the polling place, and in particular inside the polling room, the protected zone is a nonpublic forum. Access to this forum, whether on government or private property, may be strictly limited to serve the purpose of the forum -- that is, the conduct of voting.

The statute may constitutionally be applied to the plaintiff. The plaintiff has no first amendment right of access to any nonpublic forum that is greater than the general public's. Since the general public has no right of access to the nonpublic forum of the polling room and its surrounding prtected zone, the plaintiff also has no right of access.

The decision of the district court of appeal should be reversed and the constitutionality of s. 101.121 upheld.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

This case arises from an attempt by a photographer for the plaintiff's newspaper, the Ft. Myers News-Press, to enter a polling place at precinct 48 in Lee County, Florida, during the September 1986 primary election. The photographer was not a voter at this polling place, and he did not seek admission to vote. Rather, he wanted to photograph Frank Mann, then a candidate for lieutenant governor, in the act of voting. He also wanted to photograph other voters at the polls.

Acting pursuant to s. 101.121, Fla.Stat., poll workers refused the photographer admission, and when he declined to depart, he was ejected.

Section 101.121 is the most important statute in limiting public access to the polls. No other statute limits public access to the polls to the same degree. $\frac{4}{}$ At the time the plaintiff filed its lawsuit, the statute permitted only specific authorized officials and those voting or in line to vote to be inside or within 50 feet of the polling place, the building housing the room where ballots are cast. The statute read:

⁴/Section 103.031(3), Fla. Stat., limited public activity around the polls but did not address the question of actual physical access. This section prohibited solicitation within 150-feet of the polls. The section, however, has been held unconstitutional. Florida Committee for Liability Reform v. <u>McMillan</u>, 682 F.Supp. 1536 (M.D. Fla. 1988)

Persons allowed in polling places. - As many electors may be admitted to vote as there are booths available, and no person who is not in line to vote may cone within 50 feet of any polling place from the opening to the closing of the polls, except the officially designated watchers, the inspectors, the clerks of election, and the supervisor of elections or his deputy. However, the sheriff, a deputy sheriff, or a city policeman may enter the polling place with permission from the clerk or a majority of the inspectors. Such restrictions shall not apply to commercial businesses or privately owned homes and property which are within 50 feet of the polling place.

However during the course of litigation, the Legislature significantly amended the section. See s. 2, Ch. 87-184, Laws of Florida, codified as s. 101.121, Fla.Stat. (1987), set out below. $\frac{5}{}$ / Now the 50-foot protected zone projects not from the walls of the polling place, as before, but from the walls of the polling place, as before, but from the reach of the statute, and should have substantially altered the district court's analysis.

⁵/101.121 Persons allowed in polling rooms places.--As many electors may be admitted to vote as there are booths available, and no person who is not in line to vote may come within 50 feet of any polling room place from the opening ot the closing of the polls, except the officially designated watchers, the inspectors, the clerks of election, and the supervisor of elections or his deputy. However, the sheriff, a deputy sheriff, or a city policeman may enter the polling room place with permission from he clerk or a majority of the inspectors. Such restrictions shall not apply to commercial businesses or privately owned homes and property which are within 50 feet of the polling room place.

It did not, however, and the court held that the statute violated the first amendment to the U.S. Constitution and article I, section 4 of the Florida Constitution. Specifically, the court held that the statute was void for substantial overbreadth. In addition, the court held that it was unreasonable.

The district court found overbreadth based on a number of factors. First, it said that the statute was overbroad because "undoubtedly, in many cases" the protected zone would fall on traditional public forums such as sidewalks, where first amendment rights are customarily exercised. Appendix 1, p. 4. Second, the court said that the protected zone impermissibly swept into its orbit areas inside buildings such as schools, churches and community halls (where polling places often are established) which are "commonly used for free expression." <u>Id</u>., pp. 4-5. People passing through the protected zone on lawful business in these apparently public places would thus find their first amendment rights curtailed. Third, the court said that the statute impermissibly and unreasonably would exclude from the polling place nonvoters who have come to assist the elderly or infirm voter and the children of voters. Id., p. 7.

The court held that the statute was unreasonable because it was not based on actual experience but on "unsubstantiated fears." Id., p. 6.

- 3 -

The district court was badly mistaken and its analysis seriously flawed. With the retraction of the 50-foot protected zone to an area surrounding the polling room which would be located inside the polling place, in most cases that zone was extremely unlikely to fall on a traditional public forum such as a sidewalk.

In any event, the court failed to make the proper public forum analysis, and even if the statute had not been amended and if part of the protected zone fell on a public forum, the regulation was a constitutionally permissible time, place and manner restriction.

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