IN THE SU	PREME COURT	
STATE OF	F FLORIDA	NUC 27 1939
GEORGE FIRESTONE, ETC.,)	CLETAN CONTRACTOR
Appellant,)	he will all a classic and an and an and and and
VS.) CASE NO.	72,789
NEWS-PRESS PUBLISHING CO., INC., ETC.,)) }	
Appellee.)))	
ENID EARLE, ETC.,	-))	
Appellant,)	
VS.) CASE NO.	72,814
NEWS-PRESS PUBLISHING CO., INC., ETC.,)	
Appellee.)) _)	

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SECOND DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Steven Carta, Esquire SIMPSON, HENDERSON, SAVAGE & CARTA Post Office Box 1906 Fort Myers, Florida 33902 (813) 332-3366 Florida Bar No. 126494

Attorneys for Appellee

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Point I: The decision of the District Court holding Section 101.121, Fla. Stat. unconstitutional due to facial overbreadth is wholly correct and fully supported by the record. The challenged 50 foot zone in many instances necessarily encompasses traditional public forums, such as streets, sidewalks and parks, which occupy a special position in regard to First Amendment protections. The restriction also prohibits innocent, everyday activity within the zone, including the exercise of fundamental First Amendment rights, including, without limitation, gathering the news. The District Court properly found that the statute applied to such activities and substantially infringed upon them. The statute is therefore unconstitutionally overbroad, regardless of the fact it may properly regulate other activities. The State has ignored such basis of the District Court's ruling, erroneously framing the constitutional issue in a public forum vs. non-public forum context. Nevertheless, even an analysis of the standard for lawful public forum restrictions demonstrates that the statute imposes unreasonable time, place and manner restrictions on traditional public forums falling within the zone.

Point II: The statute also implicitly bars the media from entering polling rooms on election day for the purpose of gathering the news. The News-Press, in fact, was barred from

xii

doing so during a state-wide primary election under the authority of the statute. While the polling room itself is a "limited public forum", as defined by the United States Supreme Court, the media has a right of access to this forum, on behalf of itself and the public, in order to gather information about this significant governmental operation, i.e., the conduct of elections. This access right has been recognized by the federal and state courts in the context of both judicial and non-judicial governmental proceedings. Given this right, the statute was unconstitutionally applied to the News-Press in violation of its First Amendment rights.

Point III: In amending Section 101.121, Fla. Stats., the Florida legislature attempted to exempt from the purview of its restrictions privately owned businesses, homes and other private property which fell within the 50 foot zone. However, in so attempting, the legislature enacted the exemption to read in such a manner as to render it impossible for a person of common and ordinary intellect to determine if one falls within the exemption in a myriad of circumstances. Such being the case, the prohibition itself is impermissibly vague, and, therefore unconstitutional under the due process clause of the Fourth Amendment and the free speech/press clause of the First Amendment.

xiii

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY FOUND SECTION 101.121, FLA. STAT., UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE DUE TO OVERBREADTH, SINCE THE STATUTE SWEEPS WITHIN ITS AMBIT CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED ACTIVITIES INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO FREE SPEECH AND PRESS GUARANTEED BY THE FIRST AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 4 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION^I.

The State attacks the decision of the District Court holding the statute facially unconstitutional for overbreadth with a somewhat confusing and, as will be shown, erroneous analysis. The State engages in a lengthy discourse on what it perceives to be a meaningful distinction between content-based and content-neutral legislative prohibitions, and various types of public fora, while totally ignoring the fact that the District Court held the statute unconstitutional on an entirely different basis. The fact is that the District Court correctly grounded its decision on facial overbreadth, not a public fora analysis. Thus, as will be shown, the State's arguments are totally misplaced.

Before addressing those arguments, a brief explanation of the underlying factors motivating the recent amendments to and

¹Although the News-Press asserts violations of the free speech and free press provisions of both the federal and state constitutions under all Points of this Brief, only decisions interpreting the federal constitutional right are discussed herein. This approach is proper since the Florida Supreme Court has held that the state constitution provides free speech/press protections which are at least as extensive as those provided by the federal constitution. <u>Department of Education v. Lewis</u>, 406 So. 2d 455, 461 (Fla. 1982). The same has been said about the due process clause argued under Point III of this Brief. See, <u>Heller v. Abess</u>, 134 Fla. 610, 184 So. 122 (1938).

enforcement of the statute would be instructive.

In 1985, the legislature amended the statute, along with Section 102.031, Fla. Stat., apparently in direct reaction to a ruling of a U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals, which found Section 104.36, Fla. Stat., unconstitutional on its face. See, <u>Clean-Up '84 v. Heinrich</u>, 759 F.d 1511 (11th Cir. 1985). Section 104.36 prohibited the solicitation of petition signatures within 100 yards (300 feet) of a polling place.

After <u>Clean-Up '84</u> was decided, the election code was amended by adding subsection (3) to Section 102.031, which permitted solicitation within 100 feet of a polling place so long as notice of intent to so solicit was filed with the supervisor of elections. The legislature, however, did not stop there. It also amended at the same time Section 101.121 to prohibit any person (unless in line to vote) from coming within 50 feet of a polling place, increasing such distance from 15 feet as provided in the then existing statute. These amendments were effective January 1, 1986; and violation of Section 101.121 was (and remains) a criminal offense under the provisions of Section 104.41, Fla. Stat.

The 1987 legislature then repealed the notice and solicitation procedures of Section 102.031, amending the statute to prohibit any solicitation of voters within 150 feet of a polling place. See, Section 102.031(3), Fla. Stats. (1987).²

²The enforcement of that statute has recently been enjoined by a federal district court, due to its apparent facial overbreadth. See, <u>Florida Committee For Liability Ref.</u> <u>v. McMillan</u>, 682 F.Supp. 1536 (D.C. Fla. 1988).

Prior to the enforcement of the Section 101.121 against the News-Press photographer, it had been commonplace during elections for the media to photograph or videotape from within the polling room itself $(R-25;35)^3$; and there have been no known cases of complaints or enforcement of the statute against the media or any other person either within the prior 15 foot zone or the present 50 foot zone (R-25).

One can reasonably assume, however, that the State is now vigorously enforcing the statute because of the <u>Clean-Up '84</u> decision and the legislature's misguided attempt to circumvent or limit its effect on the state's ability to regulate exit polling. Regardless, however, of the legislature's motivations, the enactment of the statute in its present form is facially unconstitutional due to overbreadth for the reasons explained by the District Court and hereinafter discussed.

While the courts have recognized the right of the states to enact reasonable laws to ensure orderly elections, <u>Brown v.</u> <u>Hartlage</u>, 456 U.S. 45, 52, 71 L. Ed. 2d 732, 102 S. Ct. 1523 (1982); <u>Town of Lantana v. Pelczynski</u>, 303 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1974), that right is circumscribed by and subject to

³Included in the Appendix to this brief (A-11) are a series of election day photographs taken by the <u>Florida Today</u>, a newspaper published in Cocoa Beach, Florida, during the years 1980 through 1986. Apparently, as shown by the dates of the photographs, not only has the media been customarily granted access to polling rooms prior to the 1985 amendment, but the statute since then has not been uniformly enforced throughout the state. Similar photographs from other newspapers may be found in the appendix to the <u>amici</u> brief of the Tribune Company being filed in this appeal.

constitutional limitations. <u>Mills v. Alabama</u>, 384 U.S. 214, 16 L. Ed. 2d 484, 86 S. Ct. 1434 (1965); <u>NAACP v. Button</u>, 371 U.S. 415, 9 L. Ed. 2d 405, 83 S. Ct. 328 (1963); <u>Rock v.</u> <u>Bryant</u>, 459 F. Supp. 64 (D.C. Ark. 1978), aff'd, 590 F. 2d 340 (8th Cir. 1978).

As stated by this Court in <u>Adams v. Sutton</u>, 212 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1968):

The Florida Constitution, Sec. 26 of Article 3, requires that laws be passed to prevent all undue influence from improper practice in the conduct of elections. Our decisions recognize that "what is an 'improper practice' is for the Legislature to ascertain and prohibit under adequate penalties, within the reasonable limitations implied in the exercise of all expressly stated Legislative powers.

<u>Id</u>., at 3 (e.s.). See also, <u>Sadowski v. Shevin</u>, 351 So. 2d 44, 46 (Fla. DCA 1976).

Since its decision in <u>Mills</u>, supra, the U.S. Supreme Court has consistently reaffirmed that First Amendment rights are entitled to the fullest constitutional protection even when measured against a state's important interest in ensuring fair and orderly elections. See, e.g., <u>First National Bank of</u> <u>Boston v. Bellotti</u>, 435 U.S. 765, 55 L. Ed. 2d 707, 98 S. Ct. 1407 (1978); <u>Buckley v. Valeo</u>, 424 U.S. 1, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659, 96 S. Ct. 612 (1976); <u>Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Tornillo</u>, 418 U.S. 241, 41 L. Ed. 2d 73, 94 S. Ct. 2831 (1974). See also, <u>Falzone v. State</u>, 500 So. 2d 1337 (Fla. 1987); and Clean-up '84 v. Heinrich, supra.

It is also axiomatic that streets, sidewalks and public parks are "traditional public forum property" which "occupy a

special position in terms of First Amendment protection." <u>Members of City Council v. Taxpayers for Vincent</u>, 466 U.S. 789, 80 L. Ed. 2d 772, 104 S. Ct. 2118 (1984); <u>U.S. v. Grace</u>, 461 U.S. 171, 75 L. Ed. 2d 736, 103 S. Ct. 1702, 1707-1708 (1983); <u>Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley</u>, 408 U.S. 92, 33 L. Ed. 2d 212, 92 S. Ct. 2286 (1972). In many instances, access to these traditional public forums is totally prohibited by the 50 foot "no man's" zone created by the statute, a fact recognized by the District Court.⁴ See, 527 So.2d at 225.

It is further without question that news gathering is a recognized First Amendment activity. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Sherman</u>, 581 F. 2d 1358 (9th Cir. 1978); <u>In Re Express</u> <u>News-Corp.</u>, 695 F. 2d 807 (5th Cir. 1982); <u>Daily Harold Co. v</u> <u>Munro</u>, 838 F.2d 380, 384 (9th Cir. 1988). The Florida courts have also recognized the protected nature of this right.⁵

⁵The record in the case clearly reflects the News-Press was exercising this right when excluded from polling rooms and the 50 foot zone (R-77).

⁴The State asserts that there is no evidentiary basis for this conclusion. However, the State conceded in the District Court, through an amicus brief filed on its behalf, that, "[T]he fifty foot zone of exclusion established by the statutes does encompass areas traditionally considered public forums." Amicus Brief of Association of Supervisors of Elections, Inc., at p. 8. Moreover, some of the photographs in the record and others included in the amicus brief of the Tribune Company in the District Court, clearly showed streets and sidewalks within the 50 foot zone. Lastly, given the customary location of and nature of polling rooms (see, e.g., the list of Lee County Precincts, at page 1 of the Appendix), the District Court could, and this Court may, properly take judicial knowledge of this generally known fact.

See, e.g., Johnson v. Bentley, 457 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Tribune Co. v. Huffstetter, 489 So. 2d 722 (Fla. 1986); and <u>Gadsden County Times, Inc. v. Horne</u>, 426 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Given the statute's infringement upon these First Amendment protections, the issue under this Point is whether the District Court correctly found Section 101.121 to be unconstitutional on its face due to substantial overbreadth.

In deciding whether the statute suffered from impermissible overbreadth the District Court expressly determined the statute, in attempting to regulate or prevent activities subject to regulation, sweeped within its ambit areas of constitutionally protected freedoms, citing <u>State v.</u> <u>Gray</u>, 435 So. 2d 816, (Fla. 1983). See, 527 So.2d at 225.

In <u>Gray</u>, this Court recognized that where a law "...directly or indirectly infringes on the exercise of some constitutionally protected freedom...," the courts have the power to strike down the law as impermissibly overbroad. <u>Id.</u>, 435 So.2d at 819. In that regard, this Court has also held that legislation may be overbroad "...if it is susceptible of application to conduct protected by the First Amendment." <u>Carricarte v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 1261, 1262 (Fla. 1980). See also, <u>State v. Saiez</u>, 489 So.2d 1125, 1126 (Fla. 1986); <u>State</u> <u>v. Greco</u>, 479 So.2d 786, 789 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985).

Citing the recent U.S. Supreme Court decision of <u>Airport</u> <u>Comm'rs v. Jews For Jesus, Inc.</u>, 482 U.S. ____, 96 L.Ed. 2d 500, 107 S.Ct. 2568 (1987), the District Court found the

statute's overbreadth to be substantial since (1) it precluded many persons from the zone who in no way impede the voting process, (2) its broad language was applicable to persons who wished to exercise free speech or free press rights, and (3) that the zone banned mere presence in many traditional public forums, even where the purpose was to exercise a constitutionally protected right. See, 527 So.2d at 226. Therefore, since First Amendment rights, such as petitioning, giving speeches or, in this case, gathering the news within the 50 foot zone, are clearly swept within the purview of the statute by its absolute terms, the statute is facially invalid, even though the statute may not be directly aimed at preventing such activities.

Interestingly enough, the Supreme Court in the <u>Jews For</u> <u>Jesus</u> case was presented with virtually the same competing arguments as presented in this issue of appeal, to wit, whether the law is unconstitutional due to overbreadth or whether the law improperly limited First Amendment rights in a public forum. These arguments are closely related, but clearly separate and distinct under the law.

The lower courts in <u>Jews For Jesus</u> had struck down a regulation that banned all First Amendment activities in the Los Angeles airport by using a public forum analysis. The Supreme Court affirmed the lower courts' decisions, but on the separate and distinct ground that the regulation was overbroad, stating:

Because we conclude that the resolution is facially unconstitutional under the First

Amendment overbreadth doctrine regardless of the proper standard (for public forum analysis), we need not decide whether LAX is indeed a public forum, or whether the Perry standard is applicable when access to a nonpublic forum is not restricted.

<u>Id.</u>, at 96 L.Ed. 2d at 507. While <u>Jews for Jesus</u> involved a law directly aimed at First Amendment activity, one case relied upon by the Court for its holding was <u>Houston v. Hill</u>, 482 U.S. _____, 96 L.Ed. 2d 398, 107 S.Ct. _____ (1987), which involved a law which was indirectly aimed at such activity. That law was a city ordinance prohibiting the assault or interference with a policeman in the execution of his duty, but which was applied to an individual involved in a purely verbal altercation with the police.

The city contended the ordinance was content-neutral and aimed only at "core criminal conduct," not free expression. In response, the Court stated that laws which make unlawful a substantial amount of protected conduct suffer from overbreadth, even if they have a legitimate application. The Court then found the ordinance potentially applicable to speech, regardless of its innocent nature, and, consequently, overbroad.

Likewise, the District Court in this case recognized the substantial applicability of the statute to constitutionally protected activities, not the least of which being the News-Press' right to gather the news under the free press clause of the First Amendment. Hence, the District Court did not apply an improper standard to a public forum limitation, as asserted by the State; rather the District Court in holding

the statute void for overbreadth simply was not required to engage in such an analysis. Therefore, the District Court's finding that the statute substantially infringed upon First Amendment freedoms, a finding supported by the record, and was therefore overbroad is correct and should be affirmed.

Thus, the first major flaw in the State's argument is that an analysis of the permissible standard for restricting public forums is required in this case.⁶ Nevertheless, even if for some reason such an analysis is necessary to a determination of the facial invalidity of the statute, the statute, as will be shown, remains unconstitutional.

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